#### No. 44173-0-II

#### COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

VS.

### Lester James,

Appellant.

Cowlitz County Superior Court Cause No. 12-1-00128-3
The Honorable Judge Michael Evans

# **Appellant's Opening Brief Corrected Copy**

Jodi R. Backlund Manek R. Mistry Skylar T. Brett Attorneys for Appellant

#### **BACKLUND & MISTRY**

P.O. Box 6490 Olympia, WA 98507 (360) 339-4870 backlundmistry@gmail.com

#### **

#### **ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR**

- 1. As applied to Mr. James, the sex offender registration statute is unconstitutionally vague.
- 2. RCW 9A.44.130 is unconstitutionally vague because it fails to adequately define the term "residence" or the phrase "residence address."
- 3. RCW 9A.44.130 is unconstitutionally vague because it fails to adequately define what is meant by a "change" of residence address.
- 4. Mr. James's conviction infringed his Fourteenth Amendment right to due process because the evidence was insufficient to establish the elements of failure to register.
- 5. The prosecution failed to prove that Mr. James "knowingly" failed to comply with his duty to register.
- 6. The prosecution failed to prove that Mr. James changed his residence address.
- 7. The trial court violated Mr. James's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right to confront witnesses.
- 8. The sentencing judge erred by sentencing Mr. James with an offender score of nine.
- 9. The trial court erred by including a gross misdemeanor in Mr. James's offender score.
- 10. The court erred in adopting Finding of Fact No. 2.1 in the Judgment and Sentence.
- 11. The court erred in adopting Finding of Fact No. 2.2 in the Judgment and Sentence.
- 12. The court erred in adopting Finding of Fact No. 2.3 in the Judgment and Sentence.

#### **ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR**

1. A criminal statute is unconstitutionally vague if it fails to provide (1) adequate notice of what is forbidden and (2) objective guidelines to guard against arbitrary application.

RCW 9A.44.130 does not define the term "residence" or the phrase "residence address," and does not explain what is meant by a "change" of residence address. Is the statute unconstitutionally vague as applied to Mr. James, who was temporarily absent from his apartment for a period of less than a week, who had permission from his landlord to remain in the apartment despite difficulty paying his rent, who left clothing and other property in the apartment during his temporary absence, and who showed no intention of abandoning the apartment?

- 2. To obtain a conviction for failure to register, the prosecution was required to prove that Mr. James "knowingly failed to comply" with his registration requirements. Here, the prosecution did not prove that Mr. James "knowingly failed to comply," because it did not prove he knew he had changed his residence address. Was the evidence insufficient to prove that Mr. James knowing failed to comply with the registration requirements?
- 3. The prosecution alleged that Mr. James had an obligation to reregister because he had "changed" his "residence address." The prosecution failed to prove that he intended to abandon his apartment, and the evidence showed that he was temporarily absent for less than a week, that he stayed part of the time in another unit in the same apartment building, that he left clothing and other property in his apartment unit, and that he arranged with his landlord to continue residing there despite difficulty paying rent. Was the evidence insufficient to prove the essential elements of failure to register beyond a reasonable doubt?
- 4. An accused person's right to cross-examine an adverse witness may not be limited unless (1) introduction of the testimony would be so unfairly prejudicial as to disrupt the fairness of trial and (2) the state's interest in excluding the evidence outweighs the accused person's need for the evidence. Here, the trial court prevented Mr. James from cross-examining a critical state witness on the issue of bias, despite the absence of any contrary state interest. Did the limitation of cross-examination infringe Mr. James's Sixth Amendment right to confrontation?

5. At sentencing, the offender score is calculated using prior felony convictions. In this case, the sentencing court erroneously added one point to Mr. James's offender score for a gross misdemeanor. Did the trial court err by including a gross misdemeanor in Mr. James's offender score?

#### **STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PRIOR PROCEEDINGS**

Lester James lived in a Longview apartment complex that catered to sex offenders. RP 44, 79. He was a convicted sex offender, and he registered his address in August of 2011. Ex. 1, Supp. CP; RP 16, 79. He lived in unit one of the apartment complex, and kept his property there as well (although he did not have much in the way of personal property). RP 80, 99. When he first moved in, he had a roommate named Andrew Alston, but Alston wanted his own room; he moved to a different unit and then into a house in Kelso. RP 82.

Mr. James's son died in December of 2011. RP 81. This was a very hard time for Mr. James, and he spent more time than usual with his family and friends. RP 81-84, 89, 91, 96, 100. At Christmas time, he fell behind on his rent. RP 45-46, 84. He was unable to make a rent payment that was due on Christmas day. RP 49. Around January 5<sup>th</sup>, he spoke with his landlord Brian Weathers about his difficulties, and Mr. Weathers agreed that he would not evict Mr. James. RP 46, 49-50, 84. Although Mr. James spent some nights elsewhere during this time period, he left his personal belongings in the rental unit and considered it his home. RP 80, 84-85, 100.

The landlord, Mr. Weathers, never evicted Mr. James or otherwise directed him to leave unit one. RP 50. According to Mr. Weathers, Mr. James continued to rent unit one up through the time he was arrested for failure to register, which (according to Mr. Weathers), was "later in January." RP 48, 50. During this timeframe, Mr. Weathers also rented the unit to another sex offender named Richard Barnard. RP 46.

Officers went to the apartment three times in December and January. They did not find Mr. James home on any of their visits. As a result, Mr. James was charged with Failure to Register. CP 1; RP 32-35. The Information specified a charging period of "on, about, or between November 1, 2011 and January 11, 2012". CP 1.

Mr. James waived his right to a jury trial. RP 1.

The state introduced into evidence the registration packet completed by sheriff department staff in August of 2011. Ex. 1, Supp. CP. The first five pages of the registration packet contained a review of the statutes and registration requirements. Mr. James initialed a paragraph on page three indicating that he understood he was required to register by certified mail if he "change[d] his... residence address within the same

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> In Mr. Weathers' words: "Well, before the thing went down or, why I'm here, yes, he was still -- uh -- in Unit 1." RP 48

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> It is not clear from the record whether or not Mr. Weathers allowed Barnard to move in as Mr. James's roommate (as Mr. Alston had been), or if he simply forgot that the unit was already occupied. RP 46-47.

county." Ex. 1, p. 3, Supp. CP. He signed the document indicating that he had read and understood it. Ex. 1, p. 5, Supp. CP.

The next three pages of the registration packet consisted of "Sex Offender Law Changes that went into effect on 7/22/2011". Mr. James signed the last page of this document. Ex. 1, p. 8, Supp. CP. Included in this section was a definition of the term "fixed residence":

"Fixed residence" means a building that a person lawfully and habitually uses as living quarters a majority of the week. Ex. 1, p. 6 Supp. CP.

The last three pages of the registration packet consisted of Mr. James' registration materials, indicating his address at unit one of the Longview apartment building. Ex. 1, pp. 9-11, Supp. CP.

Barnard was called as a witness by the state, and gave his address as homeless. He later testified that he was in custody "at DOC". RP 52, 57. Barnard acknowledged that he is a sex offender with a registration requirement. RP 54-62. He requested an attorney to advise him about the possible risk of testifying about his own residence addresses. RP 54-64. An attorney was assigned. RP 62. Barnard spoke with the attorney, the attorney met with the prosecutor, and then Barnard agreed to continue with his testimony against Mr. James. RP 74.

Mr. James sought to cross examine Barnard about his motivation for testifying. RP 65-75. Barnard was in custody at the time facing his own charge of Failure to Register. RP 73. Mr. James hoped to show that Barnard was motivated to curry favor with the prosecution regarding his own case, even if no formal deal had been reached. RP 66. The court refused to allow Mr. James to cross-examine Barnard about his pending charges, his living situation in recent months, or his compliance with registration requirements. RP 66-67.

Barnard told the court that he moved into unit one on January 5, 2012. He said that he did not see Mr. James there, but there were personal items still there in the apartment. These included clothing (including pants, shirts, socks, and underwear, strewn around the small space), as well as soap, shampoo, and the like. RP 68-70, 72, 76, 123.

Mr. James testified, and explained his emotional response to the death of his son. RP 83. He told the court that he still lived in unit one—the apartment at which he had registered—at the time of his arrest, and that he had left his belongings there, intending to return. RP 78-96.

The trial judge found Mr. James guilty of failing to register. The primary basis for the guilty verdict was Barnard's statement that he began renting the unit on January 5, 2012. RP 122-123. Based on this, the court

found that Mr. James changed his address on January 5<sup>th</sup>, and that he had not registered by the time he was arrested on January 11<sup>th</sup>. RP 127-128.

At the sentencing hearing, Mr. James's attorney agreed to the state's summary of criminal history. RP 130. An offender score worksheet filed with the court indicated that Mr. James had 9 points (including one point for commission of the offense while on community custody). General Scoring Form (11/2/12), Supp. CP.

The Judgment and Sentence signed by the court included an Appendix listing Mr. James's criminal history. His prior convictions consisted of a juvenile sex offense, three prior failure to register charges, a custodial assault, and an offense listed as "DV-PROT ORDER VIOL." CP 6. The Judgment and Sentence (and the appendix) noted that Mr. James was on community custody at the time of the offense, adding one point to the offender score. CP 6.

Mr. James timely appealed. CP 17.

#### **ARGUMENT**

- I. RCW 9A.44.130 IS UNCONSTITUTIONALLY VAGUE AS APPLIED TO MR. JAMES.
- A. Standard of Review

The constitutionality of a statute is reviewed *de novo*. *City of Spokane v. Neff*, 152 Wn.2d 85, 88, 93 P.3d 158 (2004). A manifest error

affecting a constitutional right may be raised for the first time on appeal. RAP 2.5(a)(3).

B. The statute criminalizing failure to register as a sex offender is unconstitutionally vague because it does not adequately define what it means to "change" one's "residence."

Due process requires that citizens be given fair warning regarding criminalized conduct. *State v. Valencia*, 169 Wn.2d 782, 791, 239 P.3d 1059 (2010); U.S. Const. Amend. XIV; Wash. Const. art. I, § 3. A statute fails to provide constitutionally adequate notice if it "either forbids or requires the doing of an act in terms so vague that men of common intelligence must necessarily guess at its meaning and differ as to its application." *State v. Watson*, 160 Wn.2d 1, 7, 154 P.3d 909 (2007) (quoting *Connally v. Gen. Const. Co.*, 269 U.S. 385, 391, 46 S.Ct. 126, 70 L.Ed 322 (1926)).

A statute can be unconstitutionally vague in two ways. First, it may provide inadequate notice, so that ordinary people cannot understand what conduct it prohibits. Second, it may authorize arbitrary or discriminatory application by law enforcement. *City of Chicago v. Morales*, 527 U.S. 41, 56, 119 S.Ct. 1849, 144 L.Ed.2d 67 (1999); *State v. Williams*, 144 Wn.2d 197, 203-04, 26 P.3d 890 (2001). A statute is unconstitutionally vague if either element is satisfied. *Id*.

Statutes that use inherently subjective terms such as "loiter," "wander," "lawful excuse," or "pornography" violate due process. *City of Bellevue v. Lorang*, 140 Wn.2d 19, 31, 992 P.2d 496 (2000); *State v. Sansone*, 127 Wn. App. 630, 639, 111 P.3d 1251 (2005).<sup>3</sup> Such statutes "trap the innocent by not providing fair warning" or "delegate basic policy matters to policemen, judges, and juries for a resolution on an ad hoc and subjective basis." *Lorang*, 140 Wn.2d at 30-31 (quoting *Grayned v. City of Rockford*, 408 U.S. 104, 108-09, 92 S.Ct. 2294, 33 L.Ed.2d 222 (1972)).

A vagueness challenge requires analysis of the statute as applied to the facts of the case.<sup>4</sup> *State v. Jenkins*, 100 Wn. App. 85, 89, 995 P.2d 1268 (2000).

RCW 9A.44.130(4)(a) requires any person obligated to register to provide written notice to the county sheriff within three business days of changing his or her "residence address." Neither that provision nor any other part of chapter RCW 9A.44 defines "residence" or "residence

3 77 1 .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Valencia and Sansone addressed the vagueness of conditions of community placement rather than the constitutionality of statutes. Valencia, 169 Wn.2d at 791; Sansone, 127 Wn.App. at 638. Although sentencing conditions are not given the presumption of constitutionality that applies to legislative enactments, the analysis undertaken in Valencia and Sansone is analogous to the analysis of vague statutory terms here.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> A claim that a statute is unconstitutionally vague on its face is only permitted if the statute implicates the First Amendment. *State v. Coria*, 120 Wn.2d 156, 163, 839 P.2d 890 (1992).

address." Nor has the legislature explained what constitutes a "change" of one's "residence address." *See* RCW 9A.44 *generally*.

By contrast, the phrase "fixed residence" *is* defined by statute;<sup>5</sup> however, the section under which Mr. James was charged refers to a person's "residence address," while other parts of RCW 9A.44.130 reference the phrase "fixed residence." *Compare* RCW 9A.44.130(4)(a) *with* RCW 9A.44.130(1)(a), (2)(a), (3)(a)(vii), (3)(a)(viii), (5)(a)-(c). Because the legislature used the phrase "fixed residence" in some provisions and the phrase "residence address" in others, the two phrases are deemed to have different meanings. *State v. Roggenkamp*, 153 Wash. 2d 614, 625, 106 P.3d 196 (2005). Furthermore, under the maxim *expressio unius est exclusio alterius*,<sup>6</sup> the omission of the phrase "fixed residence" from RCW 9A.44.130(4)(a) is presumed to be intentional.

The term "residence" (or "residence address") may be defined in several different ways. In addition to the statutory definition of "fixed residence" found in RCW 9A.44.128, courts have applied a variety of factors to determine whether or not a particular dwelling qualifies as a residence. *See e.g. State v. Drake*, 149 Wn. App. 88, 94-95, 201 P.3d

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> See RCW 9A.44.128. The definition is apparently meant to distinguish between those who are homeless and those who are not.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> "The expression of one thing is the exclusion of another." *Black's Law Dictionary* (6th ed. 1990). *See, e.g., In re Detention of Martin*, 163 Wn.2d 501, 510, 182 P.3d 951 (2008) (Martin I).

1093 (2009) (finding that the inquiry turned on whether the person intends to return to a dwelling place); *State v. Stratton*, 130 Wn. App. 760, 765, 124 P.3d 660 (2005) (providing several dictionary definitions for the term); *State v. Willingham*, 169 Wn.2d 193, 195, 234 P.3d 211 (2010) (finding that one's "residence" is not necessarily changed by a two-week absence from the state); *State v. Pickett*, 95 Wn. App. 475, 478, 975 P.2d 584 (1999) ("Residence as the term is commonly understood is the place where a person lives as either a temporary or permanent dwelling, a place to which one intends to return, as distinguished from a place of temporary sojourn or transient visit.")

Likewise, the phrase "change[] his or her residence address" is vague. RCW 9A.44.130(4)(a). A change of residence address could occur when a person ceases to pay rent, receives a notice of eviction, moves belongings to another location, sleeps some predetermined number of nights at another location, changes her/his mailing address, or leaves without intending to return to the original address. *See, e.g., Drake*, 149 Wn. App. at 94-95 (finding that the accused had not changed his residence address when he began living in his car in the driveway.).

Division II found a prior version of RCW 9A.44.130 to be unconstitutionally vague. *Jenkins*, 100 Wn. App. at 91. The *Jenkins* court held that the phrase "changes his or her residence address" did not provide

adequate notice because "person of common intelligence must necessarily guess" as to its meaning. *Jenkins*, 100 Wn. App. at 91.

The facts of this case illustrate the vagueness problems from which the statute suffers. The court found that Mr. James's belongings remained at his apartment after January 5<sup>th</sup>, and that the landlord had agreed to let him pay his rent late. RP 123, 126. None of the testimony or findings suggests that he received an eviction notice, stopped receiving mail at the apartment, or left without intending to return. *See* RP, *generally*.

Given these circumstances, it is not clear that Mr. James's temporary absence from unit one constituted a "change" of his "residence address." It is likely that Mr. James did not believe he'd changed his residence address. The registration statute provided him with no guidance in determining whether he had done so. RCW 9A.44.130.

RCW 9A.44.130 is unconstitutionally vague as applied to this case. Accordingly, Mr. James's conviction must be reversed. *Jenkins*, 100 Wn. App. at 93.

#### II. THERE WAS INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO CONVICT MR. JAMES.

#### A. Standard of review.

A conviction must be overturned for insufficient evidence if no rational trier of fact could have found all of the elements of the offense proven beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Smith*, 155 Wn.2d 496, 501,

120 P.3d 559 (2005). A claim of insufficient evidence admits the truth of the state's evidence and all reasonable inferences therefrom. *State v. Caton*, 174 Wn.2d 239, 241, 273 P.3d 980 (2012).

B. The state introduced insufficient evidence to find each element of failure to register beyond a reasonable doubt.

RCW 9A.44.132 criminalizes knowing failure to comply with the registration requirements of RCW 9A.44.130. RCW 9A.44.130(4)(a) requires a registered sex offender to notify the sheriff within three business days of "chang[ing] his or her residence address." Neither the statute nor any other provision in RCW 9A.44 define "residence address" or explain what constitutes a "change" of one's residence address. *See* RCW 9A.44 *generally*.

A person can't be convicted of failure to register if there is insufficient evidence that he has changed his residence. *Drake*, 149 Wn. App. at 95. The court in *Drake* overturned a failure to register conviction for insufficient evidence based on three factors. *Drake*, 149 Wn. App. at 94-95. First, there was no evidence that the accused lacked the intent to return to the address where he was registered. Second, there was no evidence that he had received adequate notice of eviction. Third, there was evidence that he had left belongings at the address where he was registered. *Id*.

Likewise, a person can't be convicted of failure to register if there is insufficient proof of knowledge. The *Drake* decision was based in part on the absence of proof that the defendant acted "knowingly." *Drake*, 149 Wn. App. *at* 94-95.

1. There was insufficient evidence that Mr. James changed his residence address.

To find Mr. James guilty of failure to register, the state was required to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that he "changed his residence address." RCW 9A.44.130(4)(a). As noted in *Drake* and *Stratton*, the terms "residence" and "residence address" are inherently ambiguous and are not defined anywhere in the statute. *Drake*, 149 Wn. App. at 94-95, *Stratton*, 130 Wn. App. at 765.

The rule of lenity requires ambiguous statutory terms to be construed in favor of the accused when evaluating sufficiency of the evidence. *Stratton*, 130 Wn. App. at 765. In *Stratton*, the court applied to rule of lenity to find that the state had not proved failure to register. *Id*. The court found that the term "residence" was ambiguous and could have been interpreted to include the accused living in a car in the driveway of his former house. *Id*.

Case law and chapter RCW 9A.44 reveal numerous possible definitions of the term "residence." For example, the *Stratton* court turned to a standard dictionary:

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