NO. 44173-0-II Cowlitz Co. Cause NO. 12-1-00128-3

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

V.

LESTER JIM JAMES,

Appellant.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

SUSAN I. BAUR Prosecuting Attorney AARON BARTLETT/WSBA 39710 Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorney for Respondent

Office and P. O. Address: Hall of Justice 312 S. W. First Avenue Kelso, WA 98626 Telephone: 360/577-3080

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

remedied in that the statute now allows for those with no fixed residence to register as such. *See* RCW 9A.44.130.

Here, there is no vagueness problem. Mr. James registered Apt. 1 as his residence, moved into the apartment, and began to live there. "Residence as the term is commonly understood is the place where a person lives as either a temporary or permanent dwelling, a place to which one intends to return, as distinguished from a place of temporary sojourn or transient visit." State v. Pickett, 95 Wn.App. at 478. A person of ordinary intelligence can understand what it means to have a residence and what it means to change one's residence address. If Mr. James changed his residence address the sex offender registration statute instructs him that he must register that new address and if Mr. James ceased to have a fixed residence the statute likewise instructs him on how to comply with his registration requirements. Accordingly, as applied to the facts at issue, neither "residence" nor "residence address" are unconstitutionally vague. Moreover, to the extent the statute's definiteness is in question, Mr. James has failed to prove it unconstitutional beyond a reasonable doubt.

2) THE STATE'S EVIDENCE WAS SUFFCIENT TO PROVE THAT MR. JAMES KNOWINGLY FAILED TO REGISTER AS SEX OFFENDER AFTER HE CHANGED HIS RESIDENCE ADDRESS.

Evidence is sufficient to support a conviction if, when viewed in a light most favorable to the prosecution, it permits any rational trier of fact to find the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Salinas*, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992). "A claim of insufficiency admits the truth of the State's evidence and all inferences that reasonably can be drawn therefrom." *Id.* at 201. Circumstantial and direct evidence are equally reliable. *State v. Delmarter*, 94 Wn.2d 634, 638, 618 P.2d 99 (1980). The reviewing court defers to the trier of fact on issues of conflicting testimony, credibility of witnesses, and the persuasiveness of the evidence. *State v. Camarillo*, 115 Wn.2d 60, 71, 794 P.2d 850 (1990); *State v. Walton*, 64 Wn. App. 410, 415-16, 824 P.2d 533 (1992). In order to determine whether the necessary quantum of proof exists, the reviewing court "need not be convinced of the defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt but only that substantial evidence supports the State's

case." State v. Gallagher, 112 Wn.App. 601, 613, 51 P.3d 100 (2002) (citations omitted).

State v. Drake, 149 Wn.App. 88 (2009) is instructive. There, the defendant moved into in an apartment on April 6, 2007. *Id.* at 91. His rent was paid up until May 6, 2007 and he registered that apartment as his address on May 4, 2007. *Id.* The defendant failed to pay his rent on May 7, 2007 and, as a result, employees of the apartment complex removed the defendant's belongings and placed them into storage. *Id.* Sometime after May 30, 2007, the defendant arranged to have someone pickup his property. *Id.* A warrant was issued and the defendant was arrested and charged with knowingly failing to register between May 6 and May 20, 2007. *Id.* at 92. The defendant was convicted following a bench trial. *Id.* at 91.

On appeal the defendant argued there was insufficient evidence to support his conviction. *Drake*, 149 Wn.App at 91. After reviewing the facts of the case, the *Drake* court noted:

[T]here is no evidence that [the defendant] was aware of his eviction. There is no evidence concerning [the defendant's] whereabouts or activities between May 6 and 20, 2007. There is no evidence that [the defendant] changed addresses or maintained a residence elsewhere. Finally, there is no evidence

from which it could be inferred that [the defendant] did not intend to return to his apartment.

Id. at 94. Furthermore, the reviewing court took issue with the trial court's conclusion that the defendant's intention to return to his apartment was immaterial. Stating that "[1]egal authority shows otherwise" the court cited *Pickett* approvingly for the proposition that a residence "is the place where a person lives as either a temporary or permanent dwelling, a place to which one intends to return, as distinguished from a place of temporary sojourn or transient visit." *Id.* (citing 95 Wn.App at 478). Moreover, the court found that "there was evidence that [the defendant] left his belongings at the apartment, which certainly implies an intention to return. These belongings were of sufficient value to [the defendant] that he had someone collect them after he was arrested." *Id* at 95. As a result, the *Drake* court concluded:

The State proved that [the defendant's] rent was not paid, his landlord vacated him from his apartment, and his possessions were stored and picked up by someone else after he was arrested. But the State did not prove beyond a reasonable doubt that [the defendant] knowingly failed to register at a new address or as a homeless person.

Id. at 95.

Here, the State presented substantially more evidence than in Drake. At trial, the State proved that (1) Mr. James failed to pay his rent at Apt. 1 after December 25, 2011; (2) At the same time, Mr. James was helping to pay for rent and food at Mr. Alston's residence where he admittedly often stayed, kept items, and would eventually end up living; (3) Mr. James had an income of \$2,000 a month and his rent at Apt. 1 was around \$300 a month; (4) Mr. Barnhard moved into Apt. 1 on January 5, 2012 and upon moving in found a box clothes, but not any food or the Rent-A-Center items Mr. James acquired; (5) Mr. James never attempted to collect the property he left at Apt. 1 either himself or by sending someone else; (6) From at least January 5, 2012 until he was arrested in Shelton, Washington on January 25, 2012 Mr. James did not stay at Apt. 1; and (7) Mr. James was not at Apt. 1 on December 21, 2011, January 4, 2012, or January 8, 2012 when the Longview Police Department attempted to make face to face contact with him. RP 30-35, 44-50, 68-70, 75-76, 78, 81-83, 88-89, 92-94, 96, 106. The above facts, when viewed in a light most favorable to the prosecution, show that Mr. James, his testimony to the contrary, had abandoned Apt. 1 as his residence and did not intend to return. Moreover, the testimony of Mr. James and Mr.

Alston should be viewed skeptically given that the defendant's own admissions were sometimes contradicted by Mr. Alston. A reasonable inference from all the evidence is that following the loss of his loved one, Mr. James moved out of Apt. 1 and began spending all of his nights between Mr. Alston's residence and up with his family in Shelton without properly registering. Consequently, there is sufficient evidence to support his conviction.

3) THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT DENY MR. JAMES HIS RIGHT TO CONFRONT WITNESSES BECAUSE IT PROPERLY LIMITED THE SCOPE OF HIS CROSS-EXAMINATION OF MR. BARNARD.

A trial court's ruling on the admissibility of evidence is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *State v. Darden*, 145 Wn.2d 612, 620, 41 P.3d 1189 (2002). "Abuse exists when the trial court's exercise of discretion is manifestly unreasonable or based upon untenable grounds or reasons." *Id.* (quotation and citation omitted). Likewise, "a court's limitation of the scope of cross-examination will not be disturbed unless it is the result of a manifest abuse of discretion." *Id.* (citing *State v. Campbell*, 103 Wn.2d 1, 20, 691 P.2d 929 (1984)).

A defendant's right to confront and meaningfully cross-examine "adverse witnesses is guaranteed by both the federal and state constitutions." *Id* at 620 (citations omitted). Confrontation in the form of cross-examination assures "the accuracy of the fact-finding process" by testing the "perception, memory, [] credibility," and bias of witnesses. *Id*. (citations omitted). Thus, "the right to confront must be zealously guarded." *Id*. Indeed, "latitude must be allowed in cross-examining an essential prosecution witness to show motive for his testimony." *State v. Knapp*, 14 Wn.App 101, 107, 540 P.2d 898 (1975).

The right to cross-examine adverse witnesses, however, is not absolute as the scope of the examination can be limited by the trial court. *Id.*; *State v. Robbins*, 35 Wn.2d 389, 396, 213 P.2d 310 (1950) ("Where the right [to cross-examination] is not altogether denied, the scope or extent of cross-examination for the purpose of showing bias rests in the sound discretion of the trial court."); As *State v. Jones*, 67 Wn.2d 506, 512, 408 P.2d 247 (1965), has stated:

Although the law allows cross-examination into matters which will affect the credibility of a witness by showing bias, ill will, interest or corruption . . . the evidence sought to be elicited must be material and relevant to the matters sought to be proved and specific enough to be free from vagueness;

otherwise, all manner of argumentative and speculative evidence will be adduced.

Consequently, where a defendant's "offer of proof refer[s] to no specific acts, conduct or statements on the part of the witness, but vaguely tending to show bias in the most indefinite and speculative way," it would be "too remote to meet the purpose for which it was offered, and [a] trial court [could] properly h[o]ld it to be immaterial and irrelevant." *Id.* Simply put, "[t]here is no right, constitutional or otherwise, to have irrelevant evidence admitted." *Darden*, 145 Wn.2d at 624.

The *Hudlow* test is used to determine whether a court properly limited a defendant's cross-examination. *Darden*, 145 Wn.2d at 621; *State v. Hudlow*, 99 Wn.2d 1, 15, 659 P.2d 514 (1983). Under the *Hudlow* test:

[f]irst, the evidence must be of at least minimal relevance. Second, if relevant, the burden is on the State to show the evidence is so prejudicial as to disrupt the fairness of the fact-finding process at trial. Finally, the State's interest to exclude prejudicial evidence must be balanced against the defendant's need for the information sought, and only if the State's interest outweighs the defendant's need can otherwise relevant information be withheld.

Darden, 145 Wn.2d at 622.⁵ Consequently, if the evidence or offer of proof is of the type mentioned above in *Jones*, i.e., speculative, vague, or irrelevant, the analysis ends as the trial court properly denied cross-examination into such matters. Otherwise, if the defendant is able to adduce relevant evidence, or present an offer of proof, that is not vague or speculative, the reviewing court can then apply the remaining two prongs of the *Hudlow* test. Importantly, case law has held that a compelling State interest "includes an assurance that witnesses who come forward with evidence of a crime will not be discouraged from testifying because a prior conviction or misconduct may be revealed." *State v. Barnes*, 54 Wn.App 536, 539, 774 P.2d 547 (1989); *State v. Martinez*, 38 Wn.App. 421, 424, 685 P.2d 650 (1984).

Here, the supposed bias evidence Mr. James sought to establish through cross-examination was too vague and speculative to be considered relevant evidence. First, Mr. James's attorney objected to testimony from

⁵ The *Hudlow* test, as articulated in *Darden*, is not actually applied by the Court in *Darden*. 145 Wn.2d at 623 ("For the same reason the *Hudlow* test should not have been applied in *Reed*, it does not apply here. Simply put, the situation at hand is different from the one for which the *Hudlow* test was crafted.") Consequently, Mr. James's discussion of *Darden* as it relates to this case is inapposite.

Mr. Barnhard on direct examination on the exact same subject matter, e.g., his registration, living, and current custodial status, that he would later argue was highly relevant to Mr. Barnhard's credibility as a witness and his motive for testifying. RP 54-62 *compare with* RP 72-75. Moreover, an argument that Mr. Barnhard would be biased against Mr. James or motivated to lie because Mr. Barnhard had to register as a sex offender or had past convictions for failure to register (it's not clear from the record that he did) would involve pure speculation and even lacks the support of a somewhat compelling inference.⁶

Without more, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in sustaining relevance objections to Mr. James's questions—and thus limiting the scope of his cross-examination—concerning Mr. Barnhard's reason for being in prison in the past, current duty to register, and whether he was currently registered. Furthermore, the trial court specifically stated "[o]bviously, motivation is relevant and I'll hear . . . any objections when

⁶ Notably, the trial court never held that Mr. Barnhard's current charges, if he was even facing any, were off limits. RP 53-75. Mr. James likely could have cross-examined Mr. Barnhard about whether he was testifying to curry favor with the State or whether he had entered into a cooperation agreement in return for his testimony. Instead, Mr. James asked him about what charge he had been in prison for, whether he had to register as a sex offender, and whether he was currently registered. RP 71-73. There is no link between those questions and whether Mr. Barnhard would testify truthfully about his living arrangements in January of 2012.

they come up." RP 67. But Mr. James failed cross-examine Mr. Barnard on his motivations for testifying, rather he asked him questions about topics the trial court had already stated were irrelevant. RP 67, 71-73.

Even if, however, Mr. James's questions were relevant and properly went towards the bias of the witness, the trial court still did not manifestly abuse its discretion in limiting the scope of Mr. James's cross-examination because the State's interest in excluding the evidence outweighed the defendant's need to admit the evidence. As mentioned above, an assurance "that witnesses who come forward with evidence of a crime will not be discouraged from testifying because a prior conviction or misconduct may be revealed" is a compelling State interest that can outweigh a defendant's need to admit evidence. *Barnes*, 54 Wn.App at 539. Because the evidence sought, if relevant, was of such minimal relevance, the State's aforementioned compelling interest outweighed Mr. James's need for its admissibility.

That said, assuming arguendo that the trial court erred in limiting the scope of Mr. James's cross-examination said error was harmless because the most probative evidence to which Mr. Barnhard testified, that he moved into the Apt. 1 residence on January 5, 2012 was largely

corroborated by other witnesses. For instance, Investigator Olga Lozano testified that when she went to Apt. 1 on January 4, 2012 she was unable to make contact with anyone, however, when she went on January 8, 2012 she made contact with Mr. Barnhard and not Mr. James. RP 34-35. In addition, the property manager, Mr. Weathers, testified that he rented that same unit to Mr. Barnhard sometime in January. RP 45-47. Consequently, there was substantial evidence that Mr. Barnhard moved into Apt. 1 sometime around January 5, 2012 even provided he was biased against Mr. James.

4) THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY CALCULATED MR. JAMES'S OFFENDER SCORE.

"[I]n general a defendant cannot waive a challenge to a miscalculated offender score." *In re Goodwin*, 146 Wn.2d 861, 874, 50 P.3d 618 (2002). That said, "[t]o invoke the waiver analysis set forth in *Goodwin*, a defendant *must* first show on appeal . . . that an error of fact or law exists within the four corners of his judgment and sentence." *State v. Ross*, 152 Wn.2d 220, 231, 95 P.3d 1225 (2004).

Here, at sentencing, Mr. James agreed to his offender score of nine. RP 130. He also agreed to the calculation by which his offender

score was reached. RP 130.⁷ In addition to agreeing to his offender score at sentencing, Mr. James and his attorney signed off on the Judgment and Sentence in which Mr. James's criminal history was attached. CP 5, 14. His criminal history included a conviction for a "DV – PROT ORDER VIOL" with a Superior Court cause # of 06-1-00479-9 out of Thurston County, Washington. CP 5.

Mr. James's claim that his offender score was miscalculated relies entirely on his argument that a "violation of a protection order is generally a gross misdemeanor." Br. of App. at 26. This argument fails to show that an error of fact or law exists within the four corners of his judgment and sentence. Consequently, Mr. James has failed to meet the initial threshold requirement to invoke *Goodwin* and, thus, he has waived his ability to challenge his offender score.

⁷ "Mr. Brittain: Your Honor, under the Defendant's criminal history, the State calculates the Defendant's score at nine. Uh, it's based off of a juvenile sex offense, which constitutes... three points. *Five prior felony* convictions... three of which are... Mr. Hays [(Mr. James's attorney)]: We agree with it." (emphasis added).

D. CONCLUSION

For the reasons argued above, Mr. James's conviction should be affirmed.